IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 84861 Electronically Filed Jan 30 2023 10:57 PM Elizabeth A. Brown ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL; DARCI CREECY; TAR Stork of Supreme Court ISAIAH KHOSROF AND LLOYD CREECY;

Appellants,

v.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC

Respondent.

On appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada (Dept. XXX, Hon. Jerry A. Wiese); District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Paul S. Padda, Esq. (SBN #10417) 4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 Las Vegas, Nevada 89103 Tele: (702) 366-1888

Attorney for Appellants

Dated: January 30, 2023

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the district court's issuance of a judgment on June 2, 2022 awarding Respondent Valley Health System, LLC its requested attorneys' fees and costs ("the Judgment"). *See* 6 AA 614-656.¹ The Judgement is a final determination within the meaning of NRAP 3A(b)(1) ("A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered"). Notice of the Judgment was filed on June 7, 2022. 6 AA 610-612.

Appellants² timely filed their notice of appeal (along with a case appeal statement) on June 7, 2022. 6 AA 657-663. This Court can properly exercise jurisdiction over this appeal because the Powell parties are appealing a final judgment.

¹ "____AA ____" refers to the volume of Appellants' Appendix (filed contemporaneously with this brief) proceeded by specific reference to the page number(s) within that volume.

² For ease of reference, Appellants shall be referred to collectively within this Opening Brief as "the Powell parties." Respondent Valley Health System, LLC shall be referred to as "VHS."

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Judgment at issue in this appeal is for an amount of less than \$250,000. 6 AA 614-615. Accordingly, and pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(5), this appeal should be referred to the Court of Appeals for adjudication.

III.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the district court erred in granting Judgment in favor of VHS given that it lacked jurisdiction to award attorney fees and costs, a fact that it expressly acknowledged.

Whether the district court abused its discretion by awarding attorney fees and costs in favor of VHS through a judgment *after* finding that the Powell parties' rejection of an offer of judgment was neither grossly unreasonable nor made in bad faith and that their claims were brought in good faith.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation arises from deeply tragic circumstances. Rebecca Powell was a registered nurse working in the intensive care unit of the Mike O'Callahan Hospital located on Nellis Air Force base (4 AA 390) when she was transported on May 3, 2017 to Centennial Hills Hospital (owned and operated by VHS) by

emergency medical services after being found in her home "unconscious with labored breathing, and with vomitous on her face." 1 AA 56. While in the care and custody of Centennial Hills Hospital for more than a week, Rebecca died on May 11, 2017. 1 AA 73. She was approximately 42-years old at the time of her death. 4 AA 387. Her death certificate listed "complications of Cymbalta intoxication" as her sole cause of death. 1 AA 74.

After more than a year had passed following her death, Rebecca's family retained Paul Padda Law to explore a malpractice action against Centennial Hills Hospital and the physicians who provided medical care to her. Litigation was commenced in the district court on February 4, 2019 through the filing of a complaint. 1 AA 8; 51-71. The complaint was accompanied by an affidavit from Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. (1 AA 72-79) who, among other things, is a Professor of Internal Medicine at Columbia University's College of Physicians & Surgeons. 1 AA 73.

In his supporting affidavit filed with the complaint, Dr. Hashim opined that Rebecca could not have died from the Cymbalta intoxication as suggested by her death certificate and instead her death was the "direct consequence of respiratory failure directly due to the below standard of care violations indicated by her medical records" 1 AA 74. Dr. Hashim further stated, under oath, that "to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the failure to properly diagnose the

patient before she became acutely critical on 5/11/2017, the failure of the healthcare provider staff to adequately monitor the patient (also stated in the HHS-Investigative Report), the failure to properly diagnose the patient, the failure to provide proper treatment (lacking review of the patient's medications) and administering the drug (Ativan) several times [via] IV-Push in a respiratory compromised patient, inclusively and directly led to the patient's wrongful death." I AA 78.

During the early stage of this litigation, VHS filed a motion to dismiss raising a statute of limitations argument based upon the fact that the lawsuit was filed more than a year after Rebecca's death. 1 AA 82-94. The district court denied that motion. 1 AA 103-104. On August 28, 2020, VHS served the Powell parties with an offer of judgment pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 68 under the terms of which it offered to waive all fees and costs allegedly incurred as of the date the offer was made. 1 AA 121-124. Having just prevailed on the statute of limitations issue before the district court, the Powell parties rejected VHS' offer.

After serving the Powell parties with its offer of judgment, VHS moved for summary judgment – again raising the same statute of limitations argument previously asserted. 2 AA 125-142. That motion was also denied by the district court. 2 AA 180-189. Shortly thereafter, VHS filed a petition for writ of

mandamus with the Nevada Supreme Court. 3 AA 190-228. The writ was granted. 3 AA 229-234. The Supreme Court found that the Powell parties' case was untimely. 3 AA 229-234.

Approximately one month later, on November 19, 2021, and based upon the Supreme Court's granting of VHS's writ, the district court vacated its prior summary judgment decision and instead granted summary judgment in favor of VHS on the statute of limitations issue. 4 AA 270-281. Subsequently, VHS moved for an award of fees and costs on the basis that the Powell parties had not achieved a more favorable result than the offer of judgment previously served by VHS. 4 AA 282-305; 306-357. By order entered February 16, 2022, the district court denied VHS's request for fees and costs. 4 AA 481-496. VHS moved for reconsideration of the district court's decision and a hearing was set for March 19, 2022. 5 AA 497-525; 526.

Before the district court could decide the motion for reconsideration or convene a hearing on the motion, VHS filed a notice of appeal challenging the district court's initial denial of fees and costs. 5 AA 539-560. The appeal was perfected with the Nevada Supreme Court on March 14, 2022. 5 AA 571-592.

By decision (notice of which was entered on May 4, 2022), the district court denied VHS's motion for reconsideration noting that it lacked jurisdiction to award fees and costs given VHS's appeal ("[c]onsequently, this [c]ourt no longer has

jurisdiction to address the issue of fees and costs"). Following receipt of that order, VHS filed a notice of withdrawal of its appeal with the Nevada Supreme Court on May 12, 2022. 6 AA 606-608. The Supreme Court then dismissed VHS's appeal regarding the denial of fees and costs on May 16, 2022. 6 AA 609.

Although the district court never awarded fees and costs to VHS, as evidenced by both the initial denial (4 AA 481-496) and the denial for lack of jurisdiction of the reconsideration request (6 AA 593-605), VHS drafted and presented a "judgment" to the district court for an award of "a total of \$118,906.78" in fees and costs in favor of VHS. 6 AA 615. The district court affixed a "stamp" signature of the district court judge purporting to approve the Judgment. Id.

Stripped to its essentials, this case is principally about whether the district court committed error when it ostensibly approved and signed the monetary Judgment presented to it by VHS despite never having awarded VHS fees and costs.

· · · ·

V.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. On February 4, 2019 the Powell parties filed a complaint alleging medical negligence on the part of VHS as well as others that rendered medical care and treatment to Rebecca Powell. 1 AA 51-71. The complaint, filed by Rebecca's two daughters (Darci and Taryn), her son (Isaiah), her father (Lloyd) and her former husband (Brian) acting as the Special Administrator of her Estate, was accompanied by an affidavit from Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. who offered the opinion that defendants committed medical negligence. 1 AA 79. The complaint was properly served upon VHS. 1 AA 80-81.

2. On June 19, 2019, VHS, doing business as Centennial Hills Hospital, filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on the grounds that it was allegedly barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 1 AA 82-94. The Powell parties opposed the motion (1 AA 94-102). The district court denied VHS' motion to dismiss noting that there was an issue of fact as to when the Powell parties had inquiry notice. 1 AA 104.

After its motion to dismiss was denied, VHS filed an answer. 1 AA 105 115. The district court then issued a scheduling order setting a trial date. 1 AA
116-120.

4. On August 28, 2020, VHS served the Powell parties with an offer of judgment (citing NRCP 68) which offered to "waive any presently or potentially recoverable attorney's fees and costs in full and final settlement" of the case. 1 AA 121-124. The Powell parties did not accept the offer.

5. After the Powell parties declined to accept VHS' offer of judgment, VHS moved for summary judgment on statute of limitations grounds. 2 AA 125-142. Once the issues were fully briefed (2 AA 143-156; 157-179), the district court issued an order denying summary judgment on the basis that it could not find that based upon the facts and evidence presented that VHS irrefutably demonstrated that Plaintiff was "put on inquiry notice more than one year prior to the filing of the complaint." 2 AA 186.

6. VHS then filed a petition for writ of mandamus in this Court arguing that the district judge (Hon. Jerry A. Wiese) abused his discretion by failing to enter summary judgment in its favor on statute of limitations grounds. 3 AA 190-228. The Supreme Court granted the writ finding that "irrefutable evidence demonstrates that the real parties in interest were on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017 at the latest, when real party in interest Brian Powell, special administrator for the estate, filed a complaint with the State Board of Nursing." 3 AA 231-232. The Court further added that "Brian's own allegations in this Board complaint demonstrate that he had enough information to allege a prima facie claim for

professional negligence " 3 AA 232. The Court then instructed the district court to "vacate its order denying petitioner's motion for summary judgment and enter summary judgment in favor of petitioners." 3 AA 233.

7. The Powell parties sought rehearing and *en banc* consideration from the Supreme Court noting that there was no evidence, nor did the Supreme Court cite any, demonstrating that the children of Rebecca Powell were on inquiry notice at the same time Brian Powell (who is not their father – 3 AA 238) is alleged to have been. 3 AA 239. Despite the fact that the complaint to the State Board of Nursing (cited as the key evidence by the Supreme Court panel) was only signed by Brian Powell and received by him (and no one else), the Supreme Court imputed his inquiry notice to all other plaintiffs and denied rehearing and *en banc* consideration. *See* 3 AA 259-260; 268-269.

8. On November 19, 2021, the district court vacated its prior order and entered summary judgment in favor of VHS. 4 AA 270-281.

9. Three days later, on November 22, 2021, VHS filed a memorandum of costs (4 AA 282-305) and a motion for attorney's fees (306-357) seeking in excess of \$100,000 in fees and costs from the Powell plaintiffs. After the issues were fully briefed, the district court, by order dated February 15, 2022, denied VHS' requests for fees and costs in their entirety. 4 AA 496. With respect to costs, the district court found that VHS failed to properly itemize and document its claimed

costs. 4 AA 492-493. On the issue of fees, the Court made an explicit finding that that the Powell parties claims were brought in good faith and their decision "to reject the offer [of judgment] and proceed to trial was not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith." 4 AA 495.

10. Following the denial of its request for fees and costs, VHS sought reconsideration of the district court's decision. 5 AA 497-525. The district court issued notice that it would conduct a hearing on VHS's motion for reconsideration on March 30, 2022. 5 AA 526. However, while the motion for reconsideration was pending and before any hearing on that motion could be convened, VHS filed notice of appeal and attached a copy of the district court's February 15, 2022 order denying fees and costs to its notice. 5 AA 539-560. The appeal was subsequently perfected by VHS on or about March 14, 2022. 5 AA 571-592.

11. With an active appeal pending before the Nevada Supreme Court, the district court, by order dated May 4, 2022, declined to issue a decision on VHS' motion for reconsideration noting that the court "no longer has jurisdiction to address the issue of fees and costs" and that "[i]f the [c]ourt were inclined to reconsider its previous decision, the most it could do would be to enter a *Honeycutt* Order" 6 AA 597. The district court ended its order by directing counsel for VHS to convey "this Decision to the Supreme Court" if VHS was interested in a remand on the issue of fees and costs. 6 AA 605.

12. VHS did not submit a copy of the district court's May 4, 2022 order to the Supreme Court as directed by the district court; nor did it seek a remand of any kind from this Court. Instead, VHS filed a notice of withdrawal of appeal accompanied by a verification from its counsel attesting to the veracity and accuracy of the statements in the notice which included the representation that "any issues that were or could have been brought in this appeal are forever waived." 6 AA 606. Acting upon VHS' notice and request, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal pertaining to VHS's challenge to the district court's denial of fees and costs. 6 AA 609.

13. Despite the clear language in the district court's May 4, 2022 decision that declined to grant reconsideration on the issue of fees and costs (citing lack of jurisdiction) VHS nonetheless submitted a "judgment" to the district court for signature. 6 AA 614-656. The district court affixed a stamp signature of the judge to the judgment on June 2, 2022. 6 AA 615. Counsel for the Powell parties declined to sign the proposed judgment noting "[w]e cannot agree to this." 6 AA 618. Notice of the Judgement was filed on June 7, 2022. 6 AA 610-612.

14. That same day, June 7, 2022, the Powell parties filed notice of appeal to this Court from the district court's Judgment which had been executed on June 2, 2022.

15. On December 1, 2022, the district court (Hon. Linda M. Bell) granted the Powell parties' motion to stay enforcement of the Judgment. 6 AA 668.

VI.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When VHS filed notice of appeal on March 14, 2022 (65 AA 539-560), and perfected that appeal in this Court (5 AA 571-592), with both events occurring prior to the district court's adjudication of VHS' motion for reconsideration on the issues of fees and costs, the district court was divested of jurisdiction thereby rendering the subsequently procured judgment void *ab initio*. Simply put, the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to issue the Judgment (6 AA 610-656) that is the subject of this appeal.

VHS had a remedy after filing its appeal. It could have requested a remand pursuant to <u>Foster v. Dingwall</u>, 126 Nev. 49 (2010). However, it waived that remedy by dismissing its appeal with the express acknowledgment that "any issues that were or could have been brought in this appeal are forever waived." 6 AA 606. VHS's decision to abandon its appeal and to forfeit pursuit of the type of remand permitted by <u>Foster</u> was a clear and deliberate choice. Whether VHS subsequently came to regret that choice it could not *sua sponte* re-confer jurisdiction upon the district court through presentment of a Judgment. However, that is what it did when it drafted and presented for signature a judgment that gave

it all the monetary relief the district court previously refused to give due to lack of jurisdiction.

Even if the district court had jurisdiction to issue the Judgment in question, it abused its discretion when it did so because there is no written decision issued by the district court setting forth any analysis supporting an award of fees and costs.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Whether a district court has subject matter jurisdiction is question of law that is reviewed by this Court *de novo*. <u>Ogawa v. Ogawa</u>, 125 Nev. 660, 667 (2009). The validity of a judgment depends on whether the district court had subject matter jurisdiction and not whether it reached the correct result. <u>Bradford v. Eighth</u> <u>Judicial District Court</u>, 129 Nev. 584, 587 (2013). This Court is not required to give any deference to the district court decision being challenged when conducting a *de novo* review. <u>City of North Las Vegas v. Warburton</u>, 127 Nev. 682, 686 (2011).

2. Award Of Attorney's Fees And Costs

Under NRCP 68 and NRS 17.117, either party may make an offer of

judgment and serve it on another party to the case before trial. If the party to whom the offer is made rejects it and then fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, the district court may order that party to pay the offeror "reasonable attorney fees." NRCP 68(f)(2); NRS 17.117(10)(b).

In determining whether to award attorneys fees pursuant to NRCP 68 or NRS 117.117, the trial court must evaluate the factors enumerated under <u>Beattie v.</u> <u>Thomas</u>, 99 Nev. 579 (1983). *See* <u>Frazier v. Drake</u>, 131 Nev. 632, 641-42 (Ct. App. 2015). The <u>Beattie</u> factors which a trial court is required to evaluate are the following:

"(1) whether the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith, (2) whether the defendants' offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its timing and amount, (3) whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount."

Beattie, 99 Nev. At 588-89.

Ultimately, however, the decision to award attorney's fees rests within the trial court's discretion and this Court will only review a trial court's decision as to an award of attorney's fees for an abuse of discretion. <u>Frazier</u>, 131 Nev. at 642. "[A]n abuse occurs when the court's evaluation of the *Beattie* factors is arbitrary or capricious." <u>Id</u>. An arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion is "one founded on prejudice or preference rather than on reason, or contrary to the evidence or established rules of law." <u>State v. Eighth Judicial District Court</u>, 127 Nev. 927 (2011). A manifest abuse of discretion is "[a] clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." <u>State</u>, 127 Nev. at 932 (*quoting* <u>Steward v. McDonald</u>, 330 Ark. 837 (Ark. 1997)).

B. ONCE THE DISTRICT COURT LOST JURISDICTION, VHS COULD NOT *SUA SPONTE* **RE-CONFER THAT JURISDICTION THROUGH THE PRESENTMENT OF A MONETARY JUDGMENT IN ITS FAVOR**

This Court reviews the scope of the district court's jurisdiction de novo. <u>Argentena Consolidated Mining Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury & Standish</u>, 125 Nev. 527, 531 (2009). A timely notice of appeal generally "divests the district court of jurisdiction to act and vests jurisdiction in this [C]ourt." <u>Mack-Manley v.</u> <u>Manley</u>, 122 Nev. 849, 855 (2006); <u>Rust v. Clark County School District</u>, 103 Nev. 686, 688 (1987).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in <u>Huneycutt v. Huneycutt</u>, 94 Nev. 79, (1978), this Court "adopted a procedure whereby, if a party to an appeal believes a basis exists to alter, vacate or otherwise modify or change an order or judgment challenged on appeal after an appeal *from that order or judgment* has been perfected in this Court, the party can seek to have the district court certify its intent to grant the requested relief and thereafter the party may move this Court to

remand to the district court for the entry of an order granting the requested relief."³ <u>Foster v. Dingwall</u>, 126 Nev. 49, 52 (2010) (*citing* <u>Huneycutt</u>, 94 Nev. at 79-81).

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