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

On March 14, 2022, about three weeks after filing its motion for reconsideration with the District Court, VHS filed its notice of appeal<sup>28</sup> and case appeal statement<sup>29</sup> pertaining to the District Court's February 15, 2022 order.

The District Court issued an order on May 4, 2022<sup>30</sup> pertaining to VHS's motion for reconsideration, in which it found that the costs contained in VHS's memorandum of costs amounting to \$42,492.03<sup>31</sup> were substantiated, reasonable and actually incurred in this matter.<sup>32</sup> The District Court further found that VHS

- <sup>30</sup> 6 AA 593-605
- <sup>31</sup> 4 AA 282-305
- <sup>32</sup> 6 AA 603

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> VII RA 804-844 (Exhibit G) (Plaintiffs further omitted VHS's reply entirely from their Appendix)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> VII RA 770-803 (Exhibit F)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> 5 AA 539-560

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 5 AA 561-570

incurred \$106,619.85 in attorneys' fees and \$4,230 in paralegal time subsequent to the service of the NRCP 68(f) offer of judgment, and that such fees were reasonable, appropriate and recoverable in the defense of the case,<sup>33</sup> but reduced the costs incurred to \$8,056.93 which included only \$1,500 per expert, despite proof that expert fees and other costs totaled \$49,956.03. The District Court mistakenly stated that it lacked jurisdiction, but held that if it had jurisdiction to award attorneys' fees and costs, it would award \$110,849.85 (\$106,619.85 in attorneys' fees plus \$4,230 in paralegal time), and \$8,056.93, for a total of \$118,906.78 based upon Plaintiffs' rejection of the offer of judgment pursuant to NRCP 68(f) and NRS § 17.117.

On April 29, 2022, this Court issued an order to show cause to VHS<sup>34 35</sup> stating

in pertinent part:

Preliminary review of the docketing statement, the documents submitted to this court pursuant to NRAP 3(g), and the district court docket entries reveals a potential jurisdictional defect. Specifically, the notice of appeal appears to be prematurely filed under NRAP 4(a) because it appears that it was filed after the timely filing of a tolling motion for reconsideration and before that motion has been formally resolved . . . A timely tolling motion terminates the 30-day appeal period, and a notice of appeal is of no effect if it is filed after such a tolling motion is filed and before the district court enters a written order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 6 AA 605

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> VII RA 845-847 (Exhibit H)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Conspicuously absent from Appellants' Appendix and Opening Brief is any reference to this Court's order to show cause and the legal authorities and statements contained therein, and have therefore been provided to this Court for the sake of a complete record.

finally resolving the motion. See NRAP 4(a)(2).<sup>36</sup>

On May 12, 2022, within the 30 days allotted by this Court for VHS to show cause why its notice of appeal pertaining to the District Court's February 15, 2022 order should not be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction due to the pending motion for reconsideration, VHS withdrew its pending appeal,<sup>37</sup> and this Court ordered the dismissal thereof pursuant to said withdrawal on May 16, 2022.<sup>38</sup>

Immediately after this Court ordered the dismissal of the appeal on May 16, 2022, VHS submitted a proposed judgment to the District Court the same day, with notice thereof to Plaintiffs' counsel, which the District Court signed on June 2, 2022,<sup>39</sup> with notice of entry thereof served and filed on June 7, 2022.<sup>40</sup> Along with the proposed judgment for \$118,906.78, VHS provided the District Court with the order granting VHS's motion for summary judgment,<sup>41</sup> the order granting VHS's motion of its motion for costs and attorneys' fees,<sup>42</sup> and VHS's withdrawal of its appeal pertaining to the District Court's initial denial of VHS's

<sup>36</sup> *Id*.

<sup>37</sup> 6 AA 606-608

- <sup>38</sup> 6 AA 609
- <sup>39</sup> 6 AA 614-656
- <sup>40</sup> 6 AA 610-612
- <sup>41</sup> 6 AA 600-634
- <sup>42</sup> 6 AA 635-650

motion for costs and attorneys' fees<sup>43</sup> so as to provide the District Court with all evidence that there was no longer any appeal pending and any alleged jurisdictional limitations on signing any judgment were non-existent.

As the record before this Court reflects, Plaintiffs pursued no further action in the District Court regarding the signed judgment save the filing of the notice of appeal which precipitated this proceeding.

### IV. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

Plaintiffs failed to file a timely notice of appeal regarding the District Court's order pertaining to VHS's motion for reconsideration for costs and attorneys' fees against Plaintiffs in direct contravention of NRAP 4(a)(1). Plaintiffs' notice of appeal was filed on June 7, 2022, which they claim was addressed to the judgment signed by the District Court on June 7, 2022, but also based upon the District Court's prior May 4, 2022 order on the motion for reconsideration. With respect to the order on the motion for reconsideration, Plaintiffs had until June 3, 2022 to file a notice of appeal. Filing and service of a notice of appeal on June 7, 2022 was four days late as to the motion for reconsideration. Their failure to timely file regarding this issue divests this Court of any jurisdiction to consider any arguments advanced by Plaintiffs in regard thereto. Furthermore, Plaintiffs failed to make any motion (timely or otherwise) related to the District Court's order on the motion for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> 6 AA 651-656

reconsideration as reflected in the records, which waives any such arguments in this Court. *See, Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

Plaintiffs' appeal regarding the District Court's signing of the judgment at issue is also moot as VHS's pending appeal regarding the District Court's decision on the original motion for costs and attorneys fees was already withdrawn by the time the judgment was presented to the District Court for signature, and weeks before the District Court actually signed the judgment. On May 12, 2022, VHS withdrew its pending appeal, and this Court ordered the dismissal thereof pursuant to said withdrawal on May 16, 2022. The judgment was presented to the District Court for signature on the same day as this Court ordered the dismissal of VHS's appeal, i.e., May 16, 2022, and the judgment at issue was signed on June 2, 2022 and served with notice of entry on June 7, 2022, both beyond the dismissal of the appeal for which the Plaintiffs claim the District Court was divested of jurisdiction to act regarding any motion for costs and attorneys' fees.

Even if VHS's appeal had not been withdrawn, VHS prematurely filed its notice of appeal regarding the District Court's initial denial of its motion for costs and attorneys' fees, since VHS filed its notice of appeal about three weeks after it timely moved the District Court for reconsideration of its aforenoted decision, which motion remained unresolved at the notice of appeal's filing. VHS's untimely filing of its notice of appeal was a jurisdictional defect which resulted in the District Court as never having been divested of jurisdiction in the first place to decide either the motion for reconsideration or to sign the judgment at issue. *See, AA Primo Builders, LLC, supra* 126 Nev. at 585, 245 P.3d at 1195; NRAP 4(a)(6).

Finally, between VHS's original motion for costs and attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS § 17.117 and VHS's motion for reconsideration, the District Court conducted a comprehensive analysis of the factors outlined in *Beattie v*. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 668 P.2d 268, 273 (1983) and Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) and considered all of the evidence submitted and argument of counsel for all parties. This Court has repeatedly held that so long as the District Court engaged in that very analysis, it will not disturb an award resulting therefrom. See, Frantz v. Johnson, 116 Nev. 455, 471, 999 P.2d 351, 361 (2000); Dillard Dep't Stores, Inc. v. Beckwith, 115 Nev. 372, 382, 989 P.2d 882, 886 (1999); Wynn v. Smith, 117 Nev. 6, 13, 16 P.3d 424, 429-30 (2001); Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co. v. Mercer, 111 Nev. 318, 324, 890 P.2d 785, 789 (1995); Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 252 n.16, 955 P.2d 661, 673 n.16 (1998). Such is the case here.

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

1. Plaintiffs' Failure to File a Notice of Appeal Regarding the District Court's Decision on VHS's Motion For Reconsideration Waives Their Appellate Rights On this Issue To raise an issue on appeal, a litigant must have properly preserved the issue in the district court. *Peke Res., Inc. v. Fifth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 113 Nev. 1062, 1068 n.5, 944 P.2d 843, 848 n.5 (1997).

An argument or issue not raised before the district court is deemed waived and cannot be advanced on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981); *see also Powers v. Powers*, 105 Nev. 514, 516, 779 P.2d 91, 92 (1989) (holding that "[a] party may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal, which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below").

This Court generally will not consider an argument raised for the first time on appeal. *Hampe v. Foote*, 118 Nev 405, 409 n.10, 47 P.3d 438, 440, n.10 (2002); *Peke Res., Inc. v. Dist. Ct.*, 113 Nev. 1062, 1068 n.5, 944 P.2d 843, 848 n.5 (1997); *Wolff v. Wolff*, 112 Nev 1355, 1363-1364, 929 P.2d 916, 921 (1996); Montesano v. Donrey Media Group, 99 Nev. 644, 650 n.5, 668 P.2d 1081, 1085 n.5 (1983); *Laird v. State Pub. Employees Retirement Bd.*, 98 Nev 42, 46, 639 P.2d 1171, 1173 (1982); *Hooper v. State*, 95 Nev. 924, 926, 604 P.2d 115, 116 (1979).

A party must object in the district court to the complained-of conduct in order to preserve an issue for appeal. *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 19, 174 P.3d 970, 981 (2008); *Fick v. Fick*, 109 Nev. 458, 462, 851 P.2d 445, 448 (1993). "When a party fails to make a specific objection before the district court, the party fails to preserve the issues for appeal." *Khoury v. Seastrand*, 132 Nev. 520, 534 n.3, 377 P.3d 81, 91 n.3 (2016), quoting *In re Parental Rights as to J.D.N.*, 128 Nev. 462, 468, 283 P.3d 842, 846 (2012).

The record is devoid of any evidence demonstrating that Plaintiffs made any effort to vacate the judgment. Furthermore, Plaintiffs failed to raise any arguments in the court below which addressed any of the substantive issues related to the District Court's award of attorneys' fees and costs. Moreover, Plaintiffs failed to raise the issue in the court below that the District Court needed to first find that Plaintiffs' rejection of the offer of judgment was unreasonable or made in bad faith before the District Court could is award costs and attorneys' fees per NRCP 68 and NRS § 17.117 (a claim which itself is unsupported by any legal authority).

Plaintiffs' failure to address either issue in the court below waived their rights to pursue an appeal on those issues before this Court. To the extent that the Plaintiffs will claim on reply that their first issue (whether the District Court had jurisdiction to award costs and attorneys' fees) is jurisdictional in nature and not subject to waiver, that argument will be addressed herein, and VHS will demonstrate that the District Court was never divested of jurisdiction in the first place to so award costs and attorneys' fees, thus eviscerating Plaintiffs' claims to the contrary.

### 2. While Eligibility For Costs And Attorneys' Fees Is Reviewed *De Novo*, When Statutorily Authorized, It Will Not Be Overturned Absent A Manifest Abuse Of Discretion

Although eligibility for attorney fees is reviewed de novo, a District Court's

award of attorney fees where such an award is authorized by statute, contract or rule will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *Nelson v. Peckham Plaza P'ships*, 110 Nev. 23, 26, 866 P.2d 1138, 1139–40 (1994). Awards of costs and attorney fees are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Pub. Emp. Ret. Sys. of Nev. v. Gitter*, 133 Nev. 126, 133, 393 P.3d 673, 680, 682 (2017). A District Court properly exercises its discretion where it gives appropriate, careful, correct and express consideration of the factual and legal circumstances before it. *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88, 93–94, 787 P.2d 777, 780 (1990). When reviewing a district court decision for abuse of discretion, this Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the District Court. *Id.* at 92, 787 P.2d at 779. In pursuing this appeal, however, Plaintiffs are requesting this Court to do just that.

#### B. <u>Plaintiffs' Failure to Raise Issues on Appeal In District Court</u> Waives Their Right To Pursue An Appeal Thereon

As noted in Section IV(A)(1) above, arguments which were never raised in the District Court and preserved for appellate review are deemed waived for appellate purposes. *See, e.g., Peke Res., Inc., supra* 113 Nev. at 1068 n.5, 944 P.2d at 848 n.5; *Old Aztec Mine, Inc., supra* 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. Plaintiffs advance the following two arguments on appeal: (1) the District Court lacked jurisdiction to sign a judgment after VHS filed its notice of appeal, and (2) the District Court manifestly abused its discretion when it awarded costs and attorneys' fees to VHS despite a finding that Plaintiffs' rejection of VHS's NRCP 68 and NRS § 17.117 Offer of Judgment was not grossly unreasonable nor made in bad faith.<sup>44</sup> Neither issue, however, was ever raised in the District Court.

It is uncontroverted that VHS's Offer of Judgment<sup>45</sup> was rejected by Plaintiffs. It is further uncontroverted that VHS served a memorandum of costs on November 22, 2022.<sup>46</sup> Plaintiffs failed to timely move to retax costs and waived their rights to do so, even going so far as to seek judicial relief which lacked any statutory or legal basis,<sup>47</sup> which effort was denied by the District Court.<sup>48</sup> At no point in any of that motion practice did Plaintiffs dispute the amount of costs claimed by VHS.

VHS moved the District Court for costs and attorneys' fees which Plaintiffs opposed,<sup>49</sup> and the District Court initially denied that motion.<sup>50</sup> Plaintiffs did not appeal that decision nor did they file a notice of appeal pertaining thereto. After VHS moved for reconsideration in the District Court,<sup>51</sup> the court below found the costs contained in VHS's memorandum of costs amounting to \$42,492.03<sup>52</sup> were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Plaintiffs' Opening Brief, p. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> 1 AA 121-124

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> 4 AA 282-305

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> I RA 1-155 (Exhibits A-C)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> I RA 156-159, II RA 160-170 (Exhibit D spans multiple volumes)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> 4 AA 306-480

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> 4 AA 481-496

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> II RA 171-296, III RA 297-422, IV 423-485, V 486-519, VI 520-759, VII 760-844 (Exhibit E to RA Appendix spans multiple volumes) (Exhibits E-G)
<sup>52</sup> 4 AA 282-305

substantiated, reasonable and actually incurred in this matter.<sup>53</sup> The District Court further found that VHS incurred \$106,619.85 in attorneys' fees and \$4,230 in paralegal time subsequent to the service of the NRCP 68(f) offer of judgment, and that such fees were reasonable, appropriate and recoverable in the defense of the case,<sup>54</sup> but reduced the costs incurred to \$8,056.93 which included only \$1,500 per expert, despite proof that expert fees and other costs totaled \$49,956.03. The District Court further held that if it had jurisdiction to award attorneys' fees and costs, it would award \$110,849.85 (\$106,619.85 in attorneys' fees plus \$4,230 in paralegal time), and \$8,056.93, for a total of \$118,906.78 based upon Plaintiffs' rejection of the offer of judgment pursuant to NRCP 68(f) and NRS § 17.117. The timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional and is essential to perfecting an appeal. NRAP 3(a)(1); see, e.g., Walker v. Scullv, 99 Nev. 45, 46, 657 P.2d 94, 94–95 (1983) (appellate court lacks jurisdiction to entertain an untimely appeal); Zugel by Zugel v. Miller, 99 Nev. 100, 101, 659 P.2d 296, 297 (1983) (the timely filing of an appeal is jurisdictional).

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